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Jack W. Fiander
Towtnuk Law Offices, Ltd.
1703 Creekside Loop, Ste. 110
Yakima, WA 98902-4875
(509) 969-4436
E-mail towtnuklaw@msn.com

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

WAYNE JOHNSON, et al.,

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. CR-07-5656-JKA-3

MEMORANDUM OF AUTHORITIES IN
SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION
TO DISMISS INDICTMENT COUNT 3

INTRODUCTION

Defendant is charged in Count Three of the Indictment with violation of the International

Convention for the Regulation of Whaling Act, 16 U.S.C. 916c and 916f relating to the harvest

of a gray whale by members of the Makah Tribe near Neah Bay, Washington where the Strait of

Juan de Fuca joins the Pacific Ocean.

Defendant has moved the court to dismiss Count Three of the Indictment upon grounds

that defendant was exercising rights protected by the Treaty of Neah Bay which were not

abrogated or terminated by the Whaling Convention Act.

For the reasons stated herein, Count Three of the Indictment should be dismissed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant is an enrolled member of the Makah Nation. During the period involved in

this case, defendant was a member of the Makah Whaling Commission (Indictment, pg. 3, ¶5).
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The Makah Tribe is a party to the Treaty of Neah Bay, 12 Stat. 939, with the United States

government. Such treaty provides, inter alia, that:

The right of taking fish and of whaling or sealing at usual and
accustomed grounds and stations is further secured to said Indians
in common with all citizens of the United States[.]

Id., (emphasis added). During the January 1855 Treaty Council at which the Treaty of Neah

Bay was negotiated, U.S. Indian Agent—and Washington Territorial Governor—Isaac Stevens,

informed the Makah that the United States would protect and promote the Makahs in their

pursuit of marine mammals and whaling if they would sign the Treaty relinquishing their lands:

Governor Stevens found the Makah not much concerned about
their land, apart from village sites, burial sites, and certain other
locations, but greatly concerned about their marine hunting and
fishing rights. Much of the official record of the treaty
negotiations deal with this. Stevens found it necessary to reassure
the Makah that the government did not intend to stop them from
marine hunting and fishing but but in fact would help them to
develop these pursuits….The government’s intent to aid the Makah
in their whaling, sealing and other fishing continued after the
treaty.

384 F. Supp. at 363, Finding of Fact No. 62, (emphasis added). It is well documented in

anthropological literature that Makah relied upon the harvest of gray whales for their subsistence

and ceremonial needs. As this Court noted in United States v. Washington, 384 F. Supp. 312

(W.D. Wash. 1974), affirmed, 520 F. 2d 676 (1975), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1086 (1976):

The Makah Indians, prior to treaty times, were primarily a
seafaring people who spent their lives either on the water or close
to the shore. Most of their subsistence came from the sea where
they fished for salmon, halibut and other fish, and hunted for
whale and seal….The Makah imported their basic needs such as
housing materials and ocean-going canoes used for sea mammal
hunting and ocean fishing because of the peculiarly rich resources
available to them in their ocean territories, primarily halibut and
whale.
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384 F. Supp. at 363, Finding of Fact No. 61 (emphasis added). The Makah’s usual and

accustomed marine fishing areas included the area near the mouth of the Strait of Juan de Fuca

where the alleged offense in this case occurred. Id., Finding of Fact No. 65.1

The parties’ conduct contemporaneous to execution of the Treaty of Neah Bay sheds light

on their intent which should be given great deference.

In the 1860 Annual Report of the U.S. Superintendent of Indian Affairs for Washington

Territory, Indian Agent M.T. Simmons reported on the tribes in his area shortly after the treaty:

The treaty of Neah Bay with the tribe of Makah Indians comes next under
consideration. Living as they do on the straits, their characteristic traits,
their habits and pursuits are the same as their neighbors, the Clallams.
They are bold and experienced pursuers of the whale, and carry on a
considerable trade in oil with Victoria and Port Townsend.

Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs (1860), pg. 195 (annual report for

Washington Territory, July 1, 1860) (Exhibit A).2 Two years later, the next Superintendent of

Indian Affairs for Washington Territory, B.F. Kendall, concluded of the Makah that “it will be

difficult to induce these Indians to turn their attention to farming” because “it is essentially a

marine tribe, living on and around the water, and obtaining their principal support therefrom.”

Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs (1862), pg. 308 (Washington Territory

report dated January 2, 1862). By 1863, the new Superintendent of U.S. Indian Affairs for

Washington Territory was C.H. Hale. Like his predecessors, he concluded that “the Makahs are

not, nor are they likely to become to any extent, an agricultural people.” Annual Report of the

1 According to the Hon. George H. Boldt, the usual and accustomed fishing places of the Makah prior to
treaty time included the waters of the Strait of Juan de Fuca extending east to Port Crescent near Port
Angeles, extending west into the Pacific Ocean to the area known as Swiftsure, and south to Ozette
Village near the Quileute Reservation. Finding of Fact No. 65, 384 F. Supp. at 364. The whale alleged to
have been unlawfully taken by the defendants was harvested in the Strait of Juan de Fuca just northwest
of Neah Bay within this area.

2 The various Annual Reports referenced herein are designated as Exhibit A and filed herewith.
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Commissioner of Indian Affairs (1863), pg. 440 (Sept. 1, 1863). Superintendent Hale’s

recommendation to the U.S. Commissioner of Indian Affairs in Washington, D.C., was that it

would “be more profitable, as well as more beneficial, to direct our efforts in a somewhat

different channel so as to make them industrious fishermen rather than farmers.” Id.

Washington Territory U.S. Superintendent T.J. McKenney reported in 1869 that:

The lands of the [Makah] reservation are not favorable for farming, and
the climate is also uncongenial; The Indians obtain their subsistence
chiefly from the sea. Whale and seal are captured in quantities to insure
them always against want[.]

Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs (1869), pg. 131 (Report of Wash. Terr.

Supt., Aug. 14, 1869). The local U.S. Indian Agent assigned to the Makah Reservation

“succeeded in persuading some of the Indians to cultivate small pieces of land,” but thought it

would be “impossible to make farmers of them.” Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs (1870), pg. 36 (report of U.S. Indian Agent J.H. Hays dated Sept. 12, 1869).

A new Indian Agent was assigned to the Makah Reservation in 1872. He recommended

that the Government purchase a schooner for the Makahs rather than continuing to send him

useless farming implements. E.M. Gibson reported in his 1873 annual report that:

Last summer they killed nine whales, some of them very large ones. This
summer they have as yet killed only two. If they had a good schooner it
would be of great advantage to them in sealing and whaling, as athey
could put their canoes, provisions, and water on board the schooner and go
out to sea among the seals and whales, and, leaving the schooner, they, in
their canoes, could engage in sealing or whaling all day, and return to the
schooner at night to sleep and rest, and renew their supply of water and
food; and in case of a storm the schooner would be a safe refuge for them.
With a schooner they would be able to remain at sea for many days, or
even weeks, at a ttime, in almost perfect safety, and would undoubtedly be
far more successful in their perilous pursuits than they are. I would
earnestly recommend an appropriation of $5,000 for the purpose of
procuring a schooner for the use of this tribe.
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Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs (1873), pg. 308 (Sept. 1, 1873). Some 21

years after the Neah Bay treaty was signed, the Government agents still noted the dependence of

the Makah upon the marine environment. Agent C.H. Huntington’s annual report to the

Commissioner of Indian Affairs was as follows:

Sir: My monthly reports have been made so full in details that little
remains to be said that will not be a repettion of what has been before
written. There has been no marked change in the condition, habits, or
disposition of the Makah Indians during the year. They are a people quite
uniform in habit. They dwell in rude camps along the sea-beach fronting
the straits of Fuca and the Pacific Ocean proximate to Cape Flattery. The
dug-out canoe is their only vehicle and the waters of the straits and ocean
their only highway. The halibut and salmon are the chief staples of their
subsistence, of which they can always obtain an abundance. Oil procured
from whale, shark, and dog-fish, together with the fur of the seal,
constitute their chief stock in trade, and enable them to carry on a
profitable commerce.

Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs (1876), pg. 133 (letter dated Aug. 17,

1876).

Subsequent to execution and ratification of their Treaty, the Makah exercised their right

to harvest whales until the 1920’s when the Tribe voluntarily ceased whale hunting in order to

allow whales to propagate.

In 1946, the United States government became a signatory to the International

Convention for the Regulation of Whaling. In it, the Government agreed to enact regulations

governing whaling by persons subject to its jurisdiction. The Convention is silent as to its

applicability to Makah tribal members.

After years of frustration, the defendant and the codefendants in this case, after

consultation with esteemed elders and leaders within their tribe, undertook to harvest a gray

whale to meet the tribe’s subsistence and ceremonial needs. Prior to doing so, they prepared

themselves in ritual fashion as required by Makah culture, demonstrating respect for the

Case 3:07-cr-05656-JKA     Document 91      Filed 01/18/2008     Page 5 of 19



MEMORANDUM 6

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

relataionship between their people and the whale. For their conduct, defendants were indicted

inter alia for violation of the Whaling Convention Act, 16 U.S.C. 916, et seq.

ARGUMENT

1. The defendant, an enrolled Makah, was exercising

rights protected by the Makah Treaty of 1855.

The practice of Makah Indians hunting whales had been exercised by them long before

their 1855 treaty.

In 1853-1854, civilian surveyor George Gibbs was commissioned by the U.S. Surveyor

General to exlore prospective routes for the Northern Pacific Railroad through the Pacific

Northwest. In connection with his exploration of routes, he was to prepare a report regarding the

Indian inhabitants of Washington Territory, the Governor of which was Isaac I. Stevens, who

would later also be named as U.S. Indian Agent and assigned to come up with a plan for dealing

with the Indians of Washington Territory. Gibbs report, which was heavily relied upon by

Stevens, reported among other things that “the Makahs, or Classets, inhabit the coast in the

neighborhood of Cape Flattery” and that “they venture well out to sea in their canoes, and even

attack and kill the whale, using for this harpoons pointed with shell, and attached by a sinew line

to seal-skin floats.” G. Gibbs, Indian Tribes of the Territory of Washington (report to Captain

George McClellan, N.P. Railroad Exploration) (March 4, 1854) (Exhibit B). Most of Gibbs’

report is adopted verbatim in an 1854 report from Stevens to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs

contained in the 1854 Annual Report of the Secretary of Interior.

Stevens, in his 1854 recommendations to Commissioner of Indian Affairs George

Manypenny recommended establishment of reserves for tribes in Washington Territory, with

rights to their “ancient fisheries.” Id. George Gibbs joined Stevens’ entourage as part of his
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“Treaty Commission.” On January 30, 1855, four days after negotiating a treaty with the

Clallam, Skokomish and Chemakum at Point No Point, Stevens and Gibbs set out for Cape

Flattery, looking for a place to locate a reservation there. Stevens invited Makah leaders to a

pre-treaty meeting. Speaking through interpreters, he explained the proposed treaty to them.

When he finished, several of the leaders expressed their concerns about preserving their right to

catch fish and take whales. The next morning, January 31, 1855, Stevens explained to some 600

Makahs who had assembled that:

The Great Father has sent me to see you, and give you his mind. The
whites are crowding in upon you. The Great Father wishes to give you
your homes, to buy your land, and give a fair price for it, leaving you land
enough to live on and raise potatoes. He knows what whalers you are,
how far you go to sea to take whales. He will send you barrels in which to
put your oil, kettles to dry it out, lines and implements to fish with. The
Great Father wants your children to go to school, and learn trades.

Official Proceedings of the Treaty of Neah Bay (Exhibit C) (emphasis added). As explained to

the Makahs by the U.S. Indian Agent who negotiated the Treaty of Neah Bay on behalf of the

United States, entering into the Treaty would not infringe upon or hinder their tribal practices.

Id. The matter is succinctly stated in the following statement:

Governor Stevens found the Makah not much concerned about
their land, apart from village sites, burial sites, and certain other
locations, but greatly concerned about their marine hunting and
fishing rights. Much of the official record of the treaty
negotiations deal with this. Stevens found it necessary to reassure
the Makah that the government did not intend to stop them from
marine hunting and fishing but but in fact would help them to
develop these pursuits….The government’s intent to aid the Makah
in their whaling, sealing and other fishing continued after the
treaty.

384 F. Supp. 312, 363. Indian Agent M.T. Simmons and surveyor George Gibbs signed as

witnesses to the Makah Treaty. According to Gibbs’ handwritten transcript of the Makah treaty

council discussions, the following exchange occurred:
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Toe-Kaw-Wootl: “He wanted the sea. that was his country. If
whales were killed and floated ashore, he wanted for his people the
exclusive right of taking them and if their slaves ran away, they
wanted to get them back.”

Governor Stevens replied that “he wanted them to fish but that the
whites should fish also. Whoever killed the whales was to haave
them if they came ashore.

(Exhibit B-1, pg. 2 (Tuesday, January 30, 1855).

The sacrosanct value of whaling by Makahs is well documented, Makahs regularly

traveled far from their home village territory and traded whale, venison and other products with

the Hudson Bay Company, returning to their territory with goods, tools and items from England

and other countries.

The Makah Treaty is to be interpreted as the Indians would have understood it at the time

it was entered. United States v. Winans, 198 U.S. 371 (1905). By 1855, the Makahs had been

harvesting whales since Time Immemorial. The purpose of the United States in securing the

Neah Bay Treaty was to obtain title to lands in Makah Territory. There is nothing in the Treaty

or the treaty minutes that evidences that the Makahs intended to give up their practices of

whaling which they engaged in since time immemorial. In fact, the U.S. Indian Agent—Isaac

Stevens—who negotiated the Yakama Treaty on behalf of the United States informed the

Makahs that the Government would foster and promote their maritime industries, including

whaling (Exhibit C). Id. During the course of attempting to sell the Makahs on the benefits of

the Treaty, Stevens clearly reiterates the importance of whaling to the Makah. Id.

Perhaps the government employee most familiar with the Makah was James G. Swan,

who served as U.S. Indian Agent for the Makah reservation from 1862 to 1866.

Contemporaneous with his agency duties, agent Swan was commissioned by the Smithsonian
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Institute to document the first ethnography of the Makah Indians. It was published in 1868

(Exhibit D). Regarding their stature, Swan noted of the Makah in 1864 that:

They do excel, however, in the management of canoes, and are
more venturesume, hardy, and ardent in their pursuit of whales,
and in going long distances from the land for fish, than any of the
neighboring tribes. They are, in fact, to the Indian population what
the inhabitants of Nantucket are to the people of the Atlantic coast,
being the most expert and successful in the whale fishery of all the
coast tribes.

James G. Swan, The Indians of Cape Flattery, pg. 4 (1868) (emphasis added). The integral ties

of the Makah to the whale are demonstrated by Swan’s description of a wedding trade he

witnessed during his tenure as agent:

One of these, which I have witnessed, displayed a canoe
borne on the shoulders of eight men, and containing three persons,
one in the bow of the craft in the act of throwing a whaling
harpoon at the door of a lodge; one in the centre about to cast a
seal-skin buoy; which was attached to the harpoon; and one in the
stern with a paddle as if steering. The ceremonies in this instance
represented the manner of taking a whale.

The procession formed on the beach a short distance from
the lodge, and in front of it an Indian, dressed in a blanket which
concealed his head, crept on all fours, occasionally raising his body
to imitate a whale when blowing.

Id., pg. 11. Writing of the sports and games he observed the Makahs play, Swan said that a

favorite “pastime of the boys is to imitate the killing of a whale,” id., pg. 14, using kelp plant.

They would keep up this game for hours. Id., pg. 15. Agent Swan ranked, in terms of

importance as foods to the Makahs, the whale as first and halibut, second. After harvesting a

whale, the portions of the whale deemed choicest were distributed according to the rank of the

recipient.

Before being distributed, the whale portions were displayed as follows: The blubber

from each end of the whale was hung on a pole. At each end of the pole were the harpoons used
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to harvest the whale. Next to the blubber toward each end of the pole were the whale’s eyes.

Eagle feathers were stuck in a row along the top. The whole was covered with patches of eagle

down. Underneath the blubber was placed a trough to catch the oil which dripped from the

blubber. The oil was used by the Makah to dip halibut in after it was cooked and, if there was a

surplus of oil, it was traded with other tribes. According to Swan, unlike other tribes, the Makah

did not trade whale oil with white traders, they only traded dogfish oil.

Given their deeply imbedded customs, U.S. Indian Agent Swan did not believe the

Makahs should be encouraged, as a matter of Government policy, to abandon their habits and

adopt white ways. Rather, he felt they should be encouraged even further to pursue their fishing

and whaling. As he stated:

It will take many years, and cost the Government large sums of
money, to induce these savages to abandon their old habits of life
and acquire new ones. In fact, these Coast Indians are an anomoly
in their general style of living, as compared with the Indians of the
plains, and as such, I think they should be encouraged in their
fisheries, and taught to prepare fish for sale, to make barrels to
hold their stock and oil, and helped, by means of the white men’s
experience, to take more whales and fish than they do now.

Id., pg. 33 (emphasis added) (Exhibit D). At page 39 of his ethnography, Swan describes in

detail the tools and implements used by the Makah to harvest whale. Id.

Clearly, Makahs engaged in whaling and had done so centuries prior to the Treaty of

1855. The purpose of the United States in seeking to obtain treaties with the Makahs was to

obtain title to lands. United States v. Washington, 384 F. Supp. 312, passim (W.D. Wash. 1974).

It was not expected nor understood that the Treaty would require Makah to give up their former

habits of living. A treaty is not a grant of rights to the Indians, but rather was a grant from them,

a reservation of all rights they had not granted to the United States government in return for their
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lands. Winans, supra. According to the United States Constitution, treaties are the supreme law

of the United States. Art. I, Sec. 6, cl. 3.

Federal statutes of general applicability may not apply to Indian tribes if such application

would affect rights under an Indian treaty. Lumber Industry Pension Fund v. Warm Springs

Forest Products, 939 F. 2d 683 (9th Cir. 1991). In order to abrogate such treaty rights, Congress

must do so expressly and unequivocally. Lone Wolf v. Hitchcock, 187 U.S. 553 (1903). Nothing

contained within the plain language or legislative history of the statutes defendants are charged

under express any explicit intent to abrogate such rights.

a. The International Whaling Convention Act did not

abrogate Makah treaty whaling rights. The charges

based upon this act should be dismissed.

The International Whaling Convention Act, 16 U.S.C. 961, et seq., is a federal law of

general applicability which is silent as to its applicability to Indian tribal members. The

applicable test in this circuit is that a federal law of general applicability applies to Indian tribes

and tribal members unless (a) it infringes upon internal intramural relations between the tribe and

its members; (b) the legislative history of the statute demonstrates a Congressional intent that the

law not apply to Indians; or (c) the application of the law would abrogate rights guaranteed by

treaty. Donovan v. Couer d’Alene Tribal Farm, 751 1113 (9th Cir. 1985). For a law to abrogate

rights guaranteed by an Indian treaty, Congress must express that intent in the statute clearly and

explicitly. Washington v. Washington Commercial Passenger Fishing Vessel Assn., 443 U.S.

658, 690 (1979). The right of the Makah to hunt whales is expressly reserved in the Treaty of

Neah Bay and nothing is explicit in the International Whaling Convention Act which clearly or

explicitly abrogates such right. Consequently, according to the law of this Circuit, federal laws
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of general applicability such as 16 U.S.C. 916c and 916f may not lawfully be applied to the

Makah defendants in this case since the application of these statutes would abrogate rights

guaranteed by the Treaty of Neah Bay. See generally, Lumber Industry Pension Fund v. Warm

Springs Forest Products Industries, 939 F. 2d 683 (9th Cir. 1991).

Since treaties are to be interpreted as the Indians would have understood them at the time,

Jones v. Meehan, 175 U.S. 1 (1899), based upon the official record of the treaty council

proceedings, the only reasonable conclusion which gives effect to the Makah’s treaty right is that

Makah tribal members, prior to the Treaty of 1855, did not need to notify anyone including the

United States prior to whaling, see United States v. Smiskin, 487 F. 3d 1260 (9th Cir. 2007), nor

obtain consent or permission and the Treaty did not change that. They having engaged in this

conduct long before the Treaty, and Treaties being a grant of rights from them, not to them,

Winans, supra, and since this valuable right of hunting whales was not relinquished in the treaty,

it was reserved by the Tribe for the benefit of its members.

As was stated by this very court more than 30 years ago:

It is the responsibility of all citizens to see that the terms of the
Stevens’ treaties are carried out, so far as possible, in accordance
with the meaning they were understood to have by the tribal
representatives at the councils, and in a spirit which generouosly
recognizes the full obligation of this nation to protect the interests
of a dependent people.

384 F. Supp. 312, passim.

The International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling Act is based upon an

agreement signed between various countries which is silent as to tribal Indians and in conflict

with rights reserved under an Indian treaty. A similar scenario arose when the Government

sought to prosecute a Shoshone-Bannock Indian under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act for hunting

ducks pursuant to rights reserved under a treaty executed by Isaac Stevens. The Migratory Bird
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Treaty Act was similarly based upon an international agreement between the United States and

Great Britain. In United States v. Cutler, 37 F. Supp. 724 (D. Idaho 1940), the district court held

that the hunting rights of members of the Shoshone Tribe were not abrogated by the Migratory

Bird Treaty Act, an act which is based upon a treaty between the United States and Canada.

Several Solicitors of the U.S. Department of the Interior have reached the same conclusion

(Exhibit E).

In 1968, Congress enacted 25 U.S.C. 1341 which, inter alia, required the Government to

compile all legal opinions previously issued by it regarding Indian rights. 25 U.S.C. 1341 (a)

(3). One such opinion parallels this case. In 1942, Solicitor of the U.S. Department of the

Interior Nathan R. Margold was asked to render an opinion on whether it was unlawful for

members of the Yakama Tribe to hunt migratory waterfowl, since the United States had agreed

by agreement with Great Britain to prohibit their taking except during certain prescribed seasons.

Solicitor Margold’s opinion was that, although Congress possessed the power to violate treaty

obligations, “this rule is that an intent to do so will be found only where the language of the

legislation leaves no room for any other possible construction”:

[N]either the Migratory Bird Treaty with Great Britain nor the statute
providing for its enforcement deals expressly with the question of Indian
treaty rights, although in both the Migratory Bird Treaty and the statute
certain privileges are granted to Indians regardless of former Indian treaty
rights and these privileges, of course, apply to treaty Indians as well as
nontreaty Indians. Neither do the regulations issued under the Migratory
Bird Treaty Act deal expressly with the question of special Indian treaty
rights.

(Exhibit E). Margold noted that the proceedings in that tribe’s treaty council showed “a constant

concern on the part of the Indians” and “repeated assurances on behalf of the Federal

Government” that the tribe reserved the right to take game. Conseequently, he concluded that:
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[I]n view of the foregoing considerations, it would hardly be proper for the
Department, charged with the protection of Indian rights, to support
criminal proceedings against members of the…tribe based upon their
exercise of treaty rights which they regard as sacred.

Opinions of the Solicitor, U.S. Department of the Interior, 1917-1974, Vol. I, p. 1091. Similar

to the agreement with Great Britain involved in Margold’s official opinion, the Whaling Act the

defendant is charged under is based upon an agreement between the United States and other

countries which was signed long after the Government signed its treaty with the Makah. There is

nothing apparent in the International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling Act which

expressly and unequivocally expresses an intent by Congress to abrogate the Treaty rights of

Makahs to hunt whales and there were repeated statements by the Makah Tribe and repeated

assurances by the Government at the 1855 treaty council reserving the right to harvest whale. As

the U.S. Department of the Interior is the Government agency responsible for Indian affairs, the

opinion of Solicitor Margold regarding the relationship between Indian treaties and international

agreements should be given great weight.

In United States v. Dion, 476 U.S. 734 (1986), the United States Supreme Court

concluded that the enactment by Congress of the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act

expressed an intent to abrogate Indian treaty eagle hunting rights because the taking of eagles by

Indians was expressly mentioned in the Act and because the Act’s legislative history

demonstrated that Congress had considered the effect of passage of the Act on Indian rights.

Unlike the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act, neither the International Whaling Convention

Act nor its legislative history contains a clear or express reference demonstrating that Congress

considered its effect on Indian tribal treaty rights nor intended to abrogate them. The applicable

test is stated in Dion:
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Absent explicit statutory language, we have been extremely
reluctant to find Congressional abrogation of treaty rights. We do
not construe statutes as abrogating treaty rights in a backhanded
way. In the absence of explicit statement, the intention to abrogate
or modify a treaty is not to be lightly imputed to the Congress.
Indian treaty rights are too fundamental to be easily cast aside.

We have enunciated, however, different standards over the years
for determining how such a clear and plain intent must be
demonstrated….What is essential is clear evidence that Congress
actually considered the conflict between its intended action on the
one hand and Indian treaty rights on the other, and chose to resolve
that conflict by abrogating the treaty.

Dion, supra (internal citations omitted). Unlike the express consideration of the effect of

passage of the statute on Indian hunting rights in the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act and

its legislative history, the federal Whaling Convention Act’s silence requires the Court to

conclude that its enactment did not abrogate the rights reserved in the Makah treaty to hunt

whales for subsistence purposes at their usual and accustomed areas for doing so. Consequently,

the charges in the indictment premised upon 16 U.S.C. 916c and 916f should be dismissed.

The question is whether the Whaling Convention Act meets the test for clear and explicit

language demonstrating an intent by Congress to abrogate Makah whale hunting rights. First of

all, the statute must be read in pari materia with the Treaty, Menominee Tribe v. United States,

391 U.S. 404, 411 (1968). For example, in Menominee, the Menominee Tribe’s 1854 Treaty

reserved hunting and fishing rights. A “termination act” enacted by Congress in 1954 terminated

federal recognition and supervision of the Menominee Tribe reservation. The Supreme Court

held that the Tribe’s treaty rights, however, survived even Congress’ termination of federal

supervision of the Tribe:

We decline to construe the Termination Act as a backhanded way of
abrogating the hunting and fishing rights of these Indians. While the
power to abrogate those rights exists, “the intention to abrogate or modify
a treaty is not to be lightly imputed to the Congress.”
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391 U.S. at 412-413.

Because the intent to abrogate rights reserved by Treaties is not lightly to be imputed to

Congress, such rights may not be abrogated due to mere mistake or inadvertence. From all

appearances, the Makahs rights under the Treaty of Neah Bay do not even appear to have been

considered in the Whaling Convention Act.

In the case where the government seeks to apply a criminal statute to the conduct of a

Treaty Indian exercising treaty hunting rights, the applicable “conservation necessity” test

requires that the Government, in order to overcome the Treaty defense, must prove beyond a

reasonable doubt that the harvest of that particular species of animal at the time it was taken in

that particular vicinity had a harmful impact upon the conservation, or viability, of its species.

Specifically, the Government must prove that the conservation statute it seeks to apply to the

Treaty Indian is both “reasonable” and “necessary” for conservation. See generally, State v.

Miller, 102 Wash. 2d 678 (1984). Meaning that applying the regulation to the tribal member is

necessary to conserve the species. A conservation regulation is “necessary” only if it is

demonstrated that its application is required for the perpetuation of the species in a given area.

Id. See also, State v. Buchanan, 138 Wash. 2d 186 (1999). That cannot be demonstrated in this

case.3 In fact, it is not apparent that the specific statutes the defendant is charged with in Count

Three are conservation statutes.

3 The International Whaling Commission established a harvest quota of 140 gray whales for the North
Pacific region and 4 gray whales for the Makah Tribe in 1997, of which only one has been harvested, in
1999. As of 2001, the population of California gray whales, those that migrate between the coasts of
Alaska and the Baja peninsula, was estimated at 26,000. According to a 2005 report of the State of
Alaska Department of Fish and Game, the population of Eastern Pacific gray whales “have recovered to
pre-exploitation abundance, and and their population is now estimated at 21,000. It manifestly does not
appear the harvest of the one gray whale involved in this case had any negative nor significant impact on
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The Indictment alleges that the defendant violated sections 916c and 916f of the Act by

“engaging in whaling without first having obtained a license, engaging in whaling without acting

under the control of a licensed captain, engaging in whaling that is not in accordance with a

relative cooperative agreement, and engaging in whaling without an adequate crew or without

adequate supplies and equipment” (Indictment, ¶15). The Supreme Court has held that the

exercise of rights reserved in Indian treaties my not be conditioned upon the Indian tribal

member being required to obtain a government license before exercising such right. Tulee v.

Washington, 315 U.S. 681 (1942) (tribal member may not be required to obtain fishing license

before engaging in fishing). See also, Cree v. Flores, 157 F. 3d 762 (9th Cir. 1998) (tribal

member exercising right to travel on public roads may not be required to obtain vehicle licenses,

since there was no such restriction at the time of the treaty). Accord, United States v. Smiskin,

487 F. 3d 1260 (9 th Cir. 1997) (tribal members not subject to federal prosecution for failing to

notify authorities prior to transporting untaxed cigarettes, as no such advance notification or

approval was required when the treaty was signed).

There is nothing apparent in the statutes defendants are alleged to have violated in Count

Three—16 U.S.C. 916c and 916f—that demonstrate they were necessarily intended to serve

conservation purposes. Paragraph 15 of the Indictment merely alleges that the defendant

violated 916c and 916f by not having a whaling license, a licensed captain or a cooperative

agreement, and by not having a required crew or equipment. These requirements to not

constitute a “conservation necessity” within the meaning of applicable court decisions, nor that it

would have been understood by the Indians at the time of the treaty that such restrictions might

the conservation of the species, nor that its application to the defendant was required in order to
“perpetuate” the North Eastern Pacific species of gray whale. Instead, their numbers have increased
dramatically to such an extent that the International Whaling Commission approves of some harvests
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be placed upon the exercise of such rights. See generally, United States v. Winans, 198 U.S. 371

(1905).

It should be no small consideration that, while others exploited the whale, the Makah

themselves contributed to the rebound of the sacred gray whale, having voluntarily refrained

from harvesting them from 1920 to 1999. The Makah acted to preserve this species over a

quarter-century before the Government even acted.

The people of the Makah nation made a bargain with the United States expressly

preserving their right to harvest whales. That was sacred to them, it was their means of

subsistence. They were not farmers. In return, they gave up thousands of acres of lands to allow

settlement by the citizens of the United States. As the Ninth Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals stated

recently:

It is our responsibility to see that the terms of a treaty are carried
out, so far as possible, in accordance with the meaning they were
understood to have by the tribal representatives at the council and
in a spirit which generously recognizes the full obligation of this
nation to protect tribal interests.

United States v. Smiskin, 487 F. 3d 1260 (9th Cir. 1997). Subsequent to the Makah treaty, the

United States made an international agreement and adopted an act to implement it. However,

nothing therein expresses an intent by the United States to abrogate or extinguish the prior rights

solemnly negotiated for by the people of the Makah Tribe. According to the United States

Constitution,5 treaties remain the supreme law of the land. Rights reserved in them cannot be

repealed by mere implication, oversight or omission. There must evident a clear intent by

Congress to do so, and nothing in the Whaling Convention Act provisions in the Indictment

unequivocally expresses such intent.

5 Art. I, Sec. 6, Cl. 3.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Count Three of the Indictment should be dismissed.

DATED this 18th day of January, 2008.

/ S / Jack W. Fiander
Jack W. Fiander
Counsel for Defendant
Andrew Noel

1703 Creekside Loop
Ste. 110
Yakima, WA 98902-4875
(509) 969-4436
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